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SECTION 1: Destruction of Federal Election Records by Skagit 
County Election officials 
 

Background 
In the months following the November 3, 2020 election, multiple records requests were submitted 
to the Skagit County Records office for election results, communications, videos, reports, and other 
data critical to performing an Audit of how the election was managed by County officials.  

Among the many different records requested, it is believed that the request to examine video 
surveillance of in-person voter registration, ballot printing, and county election staff activities on and 
after Election Day would resolve multiple concerns raised by irregularities found in voter data 
described in subsequent sections of this report.   

Very specifically, it was expected that video surveillance of the election office lobby work area would 
provide critical video confirmation of suspected fraud however, in response to related records 
request the County records office replied that they had been informed by the Auditors office there 
was no lobby video camera [1].  Since it was previously known that the County Auditor had used video 
surveillance to monitor the election ballot process and in fact refused to allow in person observers 
for the election, it seemed very unlikely that video of the desired area did exist so I requested a 
mapping of the auditor’s cameras [1].  While my camera mapping request went unanswered, as found 
in the attached email correspondence I was informed by the records office that footage from other 
cameras was available that may resolve my request and an in-person inspection was scheduled [1]. 

On February 3, 2021 I performed an in-person inspection of the video footage the Auditor’s office 
had made available to the County records office in Mount Vernon but was disappointed to find that 
the footage did not show the lobby area I was interested in.  In hopes of better understanding the 
footage that did exist, I and the County records manager made an in-person inspection of the 
auditor’s office entrance and were shocked to quickly identify a camera directed exactly where one 
would be expected, towards the lobby area.  Subsequently, the County records representative 
indicated she would follow-up with the auditor and an afternoon meeting was scheduled to review 
the footage from the newly discovered camera later identified as Camera 61.   

Upon my return to the County records office to inspect the newly discovered Camera 61 footage, I 
found myself in a video conference with the County Auditor Sandy Perkins and Election Manager 
Gabrielle Clay who stated all footage from the desired Camera 61 had been deleted.  As documented 
in the attached summary meeting notes [2], I was informed that the footage of the lobby area had 
been deleted due to it being of low quality and while I did not indicate such in the meeting notes, the 
Auditors office indicated it was standard to delete footage after 30 days.   

Understandably, having been first told there was no camera, then finding that there was a camera 
but that the camera footage was deleted has caused me to be skeptical of the Auditors responses so 
following the meeting I prepared meeting notes that I submitted directly to Auditor Perkins along 
with follow-up questions that have yet to be responded to [3].  Notably, following our video meeting 
the Auditor has refused all phone calls and it has been stated in records that she has been 
coordinating with legal counsel regarding my inquiry.   
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Findings 
Following the County Auditors admissions that surveillance camera footage from the November 3, 
2020 election did exist but has been destroyed, an investigation into Skagit County records was 
performed that has found the following; 

1. The deleted video footage from camera 61 was one of multiple cameras contracted in June 
2020 intended to increase security at the County election facility [4].   

2. Camera 61 was found to be just one of the cameras at the critical lobby location that would 
have been considered responsive to the original January 4th records request however only 
camera 61 was acknowledged as existing in response to the records request [5]. 

3. Records indicate there were twelve cameras operational during the election beginning in mid-
October [4]. 

4. Documentation from the Office of Secretary of State to Auditor Perkins confirms that prior to 
the video surveillance files being deleted, Auditor Perkins and multiple County Election 
officials were made aware there was a 22 month federal retention requirement for election 
video surveillance data [6] 

5. Records indicate the Auditors office directed the deletion of five election camera video files 

in their entirety including cameras; 37, 58, 60, 61, and 62 [7].  

6. The deleted video files provide the only video surveillance of the entrance and front 

working area to the election office after ballots enter the office but before they are 

viewable to the remaining surveillance cameras in the back rooms increasing the 

opportunity for undocumented ballot tampering by election officials [4].    

7. Records indicate County employees outside the Election office expressed concern regarding 
the Auditor deviating from County video handling policy [8]. 

8. Of the saved seven video camera data files that still remain, weeks of recordings of ballot 
processing beginning in mid-October have also been found to have been deleted [7].  
 
 

Conclusion 

Based upon the events and findings as described above, adequate evidence exists to support the 

concern that federal election records for the November 3, 2020 election have been knowingly 

destroyed in violation of 52 USC and that multiple Skagit County Officials have participated.   
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EXHIBIT 1 – Cowlitz County 2020 Example of two 

Ballots after 8:00 PM (20:00) deadline 

DEADLINE  

SECTION 2: Evidence of Skagit County Voter Ballot Fraud  
 

Background 
Following the November 3, 2020 election and at the request of multiple residents of Skagit County, I 
began an independent audit of Skagit County’s election results. 

Although there are many aspects of the audit that will take months to complete, enough evidence 
has been gathered to issue the first formal audit findings as found below. 

 

Findings 
Utilizing the Comma Separated Value (CSV) election data files publicly available through the 
Washington Secretary of State for the November 3, 2020 election results, a file for all of the 90,590 
Skagit County voters was prepared and used for the audit evaluation.     

Among the many potential audit items considered for this evaluations large data group was the 
evaluation for statistically improbable data sequences.  Unfortunately, with each of the over 90,590 
voters having sixteen different categories of data listed in the state issued voter information tables, 
it is a difficult task to find the kind of sequence that raises flags but not impossible. 

After a significant number of attempts, a statistically improbable sequence has been found in the 
Skagit County voter data that cannot occur naturally in an election and that is believed to prove 
manipulation of Skagit County’s election did occur. 

First, it is critical to understand recent changes to the state registration and ballot processing system 
that did not exist prior to 2019.  Specifically, the County process to create ballots is now tied directly 
to the state database and as part of a new centralized database when a voter’s ballot is approved to 
be printed as a new or replacement ballot, the state system timestamps the hour and minute of ballot 
generation creating a unique record for each occurrence. 

Also, the state ballot process allows the voter themselves to access the state system through 
votewa.gov and change or print a ballot but only until the last minute of the election at 8:00 PM on 
election night.   After 8:00 PM there is only one way to access the state ballot system that will create 
a new timestamp and that is through a secret on-line portal that the Office of Secretary of State 
provides to Election Officials with the expectation that voters may be in line for a ballot before 8:00 
PM and in accordance with state law are entitled to have a ballot printed so they can vote.    
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EXHIBIT 2 – 2019 and 2020 Late Voter Analysis 

 
Next, using the state timestamp data for each county, an analysis can be performed to understand 
on a statewide basis, the magnitude of each counties late voting as shown in Exhibit 2. 
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EXHIBIT 3 – 2020 Late Voter Analysis Sequentially 

Timed and Alphabetical 

 
Notably, upon review of the county by county comparison of late timestamp data, Skagit County is 
among the highest rates of late time stamps in the state ranking it 2nd on per voter basis with over 
340 instances occurring after the close of the election at 8:00 PM.  Only following Snohomish County 
who had over three thousand instances ranked higher on late ballot time stamps.  

Also recognizable in Exhibit 2 is that for an unknown reason the Secretary of State has not made all 
data available for many counties preventing similar comparisons. 

Although the timestamp analysis is a likely indicator of manipulation of voter ballots, an additional 
and more significant anomaly was also found that on its own, would raise manipulation concerns but 
more astoundingly, it was found to have also correlated with the timestamp irregularity. 

As shown in the below Exhibits 3 and 4, a review of Skagit County data has found that on four separate 
occasions, ballot record timestamps aligned in sequence, with alphabetical groups of 192 ballots on 
the last day and hours of ballot processing by the Skagit County election department.  
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EXHIBIT 4 – 2020 Late Voter Analysis Sequentially 

Timed and Alphabetical 

 

 

 
 

After identifying the voter ballot patterns and understanding that Election Officials were likely 

involved, video records were requested from the County however, as previously described, the 

requested video files have been deleted, election officials are cording with legal counsel, and 

cooperation gathering additional evidence is unlikely. 

Conclusion 

Based upon the events and findings as described above, adequate evidence exists to support the 

concern that during the November 3, 2020 Skagit County Election, significant ballot manipulation 

occurred in violation of 52 USC.  
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